FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/18/2024 4:29 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 57672-4-II

Case #: 1029861

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

# ASHLEY ELIZABETH BURKS, Petitioner,

and

TRENT NELSON, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Laura A. Carlsen, WSBA No. 41000

CARLSEN LAW OFFICES, PLLC 1001 Yakima Ave., Suite 7B Tacoma, WA 98405 Phone: 253-215-1849 Fax: 253-212-9828

Attorney for Petitioner, Ashley E. Burks

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ashley E. Burks, Respondent in the Court of Appeals, is the Petitioner before this Court in the above-captioned dissolution of marriage. She asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

#### II. DECISION BELOW

The Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, opinion in case number 57672-4-II filed on March 19, 2024. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court should accept review under Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b)(1)-(2) as follows:

1) The Decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, namely Johnston v. Benefit Mgmt. Corp., 96 Wn.2d 708, 638 P.2d 1201 (1982), State v. Int'l Typographical Union, 57 Wn.2d 151, 356 P.2d 6 (1960), and their progeny. 2) The Decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, namely *Graves v. Duerden*, 51 Wn. App. 642, 754 P.2d 1027 (1988).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ashley Burks and Trent Nelson were married on December 7, 2019, **CP 1334**, separated on September 7, 2021, **CP 2261**, and divorced in the Pierce County Superior Court on September 9, 2022, **CP 2268-76**. Their marriage lasted under two years.

On 1/19/22, Ms. Burks filed a Motion for Restraining Order to restrain Mr. Nelson from, amongst other things, disclosing her personal and financial information to third parties. **CP 1390-94.** It was discovered that Mr. Nelson had been going on the internet to a dating site and disclosing Ms. Burks' address, how to access her secured home, information about her child from another relationship, pictures of the parties' daughter, and sensitive financial information (amongst other harassing comments). **CP 1395-96.** 

One such person from the internet reached out to Ms. Burks out of concern at the messages she received (especially in light of

the fact she had stopped communicating with him due to other concerning behaviors), which is how Ms. Burks was able to provide copies of the messages to the court along with a declaration from the woman who received them from Mr. Nelson. **CP 1440-44.** In Mr. Nelson's response, he admitted that he only knew the woman by her first name and otherwise did not know her, but claimed the information he sent her was "private" because it was in a text message. **CP 1412.** 

On the same day as Mr. Nelson's first contempt hearing, a restraining order was also entered as Ms. Burks requested, to prohibit both parties from disclosing to third parties the other's address, location, and "financial information of the other party outside of litigation." **CP 1451, 1455**.

In light of Mr. Nelson's behaviors thus far, including contempt of a court order and disclosure of sensitive financial information to strangers from the internet, Ms. Burks approached the court for a Protective Order with respect to confidential information requested by Mr. Nelson in discovery. **CP 37-47**. Of

particular concern was that Mr. Nelson had requested extensive information regarding Ms. Burks' pre-marriage businesses, including "records, appraisals, trade secrets, [and] financial documents for each business" that were "vital to the daily operation and financial survival of each business." **CP 38-39, 41**.

In response, Mr. Nelson objected to a Protective Order on the basis that 1) there was no legal basis for a protective order regarding Ms. Burks' financial business records, 2) the protective order was "unconstitutional" as it prevents "public disclosure" and the requirement of "open administration of justice," and 3) that he is "entitled to the requested financial information as a matter of law ... to determine what portion, if any, of Petitioner's businesses are community in nature." **CP 55.** He requested fees and sanctions against Ms. Burks and her attorney, Jamie Walker, under CR 11. **CP 58.** 

On 3/16/22, the trial court signed a Protective Order that (1) allowed the parties to designate documents as "confidential" or "confidential material" subject to the Protective Order, (2) labeled

"discovery materials which are financials for the business" and "not part of the public domain" as "confidential materials" automatically subject to the Protective Order, and (3) limited disclosure of these "confidential materials." **CP 107-09**. This order also restricted Mr. Nelson's access to said confidential materials, which, as noted above, automatically included financials for Ms. Burks' businesses such as "tax returns, K-1, Bank records, client and shareholder lists, profit and loss and the like or those not part of the public domain[.]" **CP 108-09**.

> Business records or confidential information described herein shall not be provided to [Mr. Nelson]. [Mr. Nelson] may view confidential materials in the presence of his attorneys at their office and shall not take images.

CP 108 (emphasis added). Shortly after entry of this order, Mr.

Nelson's attorney withdrew with 4/11/22 listed as the effective date

of her withdrawal. CP 1542, 1548-49.

On 4/8/22, three days before her withdrawal became

effective, Mr. Nelson's attorney signed and issued nearly identical

Subpoenas Duces Tecum and Notices of Deposition to 16 financial

institutions for Ms. Burks' business records. **CP 1182-1277**. Each subpoena included a notice of deposition "at the law office of BLISS LAW GROUP, 2112 N. 30<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite A, Tacoma WA 98403" on 5/17/22. **CP 1182-1277**. These depositions were to be held <u>36</u> days after Attorney Young's effective withdrawal date (the date Mr. Nelson became *pro se*).

As noted above, the 3/16/22 Protective Order specifically included "financial documents pertaining" to Ms. Burks' businesses, including in relevant part: "B&B Carwash, LLC, B&B Tans, LLC, Meade Ventures, Inc., L&H Luxury Homes LLC, BLA Homes LLC, [and] Port Orchard CW LLC." **CP 109**.

Each subpoena issued by Attorney Young above requested records going back to 1/1/17 for the same businesses listed in the Protective Order and directed them to be provided to Ms. Young's office. **CP 1182-83** (this citation is an example, as all subpoenas and notices in **CP 1182-1277** are nearly identical).

The same day Mr. Nelson's attorney's withdrawal became effective, and just after his attorney issued those subpoenas, Mr.

Nelson filed a Motion to Amend the Protective Order and requested that the court remove the restrictions on providing him confidential materials now that he was *pro se*. **CP 110-111**. Notably, this Motion was signed by him on 4/8/22, which is the same day his attorney issued those subpoenas. **CP 111.** 

Although the parties were married for less than two years and the businesses were inherited by Ms. Burks well before their marriage, he claimed this information was crucial for him to understand the parties' "community assets" and Ms. Burks' income. **CP 111.** 

At the same time as Mr. Nelson filed his Motion to remove restrictions, and in light of the Protective Order and the loss of a mechanism to control Mr. Nelson's access to confidential materials, Ms. Burks filed a Motion to Quash the Subpoenas or, in the alternative, require his former attorney (who had issued the subpoenas) to enter a Limited Notice of Appearance to continue her supervision of Mr. Nelson. **CP 1541-53**. In this Motion, it was noted that a CR 26i conference had been held between counsel for

Ms. Burks and Attorney Young on 4/8/22, during which Attorney Young "was not clear on the status of her representation of Mr. Nelson or ongoing involvement in the case[.]" **CP 1545**.

In response to his Motion to Amend the Protective Order, Ms. Burks also noted that Mr. Nelson was still working with his attorney and holding onto those confidential materials pursuant to the Protective Order even though she had "withdrawn." **CP 115.** As such, Mr. Nelson could continue to view the documents at his attorney's office as he had been doing or begin viewing them at her attorney's office. **CP 115.** 

In the same response, Ms. Burks also noted that Mr. Nelson had threatened to "go toe-to-toe on every single line of every objection or motion and . . . continue spending 40-50 hours on this case each week until trial." **CP 114.** Ms. Burks had not even known Mr. Nelson for five years at that time. **CP 114.** 

In reply, Mr. Nelson indicated that reviewing the documents at his attorney's office is "untenable" as he has a "full-time job" and "would largely be reviewing these documents after work hours[.]"

**CP 153.** He did not feel comfortable reviewing the documents in Ms. Burks' attorney's office and did not have a financial expert to analyze the information for him because "my funds have been frozen, and I simply can't afford one right now." **CP 153.** If, however, Ms. Burks paid for a forensic accountant on his behalf, then he "would be amenable to that" and would not need to "conduct the process myself." **CP 153.** 

On 4/22/22, the trial court entered an order on the Motion to Quash requiring Attorney Young to appear before the court regarding her subpoenas. That same day, the trial court considered Mr. Nelson's Motion to Amend the 3/16/22 Protective Order. **CP 159-61, 530-83.** At the outset, the trial court raised concern about the fact that Mr. Nelson's attorney withdrew shortly after entry of the 3/16/23 Protective Order, and that Mr. Nelson filed at the same time a request to review the documents directly on the basis he was *pro se.* **CP 538-39; 546, 550**.

"But," the trial court made clear, "I'm not going to modify it to allow unfettered access." **CP 551.** The trial court then signed an "Order re: Protective Order signed 3/16/2022," which, along with the 3/16/22 Protective Order, became the basis for the contempt motion at issue in this appeal. **CP 159-61.** Specifically, this order stated:

> [I]t is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED [t]he order issued 3/16/22 shall remain in full force and effect, except that: ...

Mr. Nelson may **view** these documents in his prior attorneys office or in Ms. Walker's office but shall not take images of any kind (screenshot, photo, video) but he may take notes. Notes taken by Mr. Nelson shall be treated as confidential information and shall not be disseminated to third parties outside of attorneys of record, business valuation experts, CPA's or the court (filed under seal).

#### CP 159-61, 530-83 (emphasis added).

After the trial court's decision, Mr. Nelson requested

clarification on a few issues, stating, "you've mentioned that I can

bring in my laptop if I need to transcribe and enter summary

tables." CP 552. In response, the trial court explained, "You may

not take screenshots. You may review and digest the information

that has been presented. You may . . . then take your notes and put

them on a laptop. You may take handwritten notes in anticipation for preparation for your trial." **CP 552**.

Mr. Nelson then noted that "the way it was currently written is that I actually had a notepad – they gave me a little notepad, and the notepad had to stay at the attorney's office. . . . I can't do anything with that." **CP 553**. The trial court's response was, "I will warn you that if I find out that you have read a bank statement and you go out on April 3rd, 2022, and say she deposited "X" or she spent "Y" and that's disseminated to third parties, that violates my protective order." **CP 553**.

On 5/3/22, Attorney Young entered a "Limited Notice of Appearance as attorney of record on behalf of Respondent Trent Nelson." **CP 1631-34**. The following day, the trial court, Attorney Walker (counsel for Ms. Burks), Mr. Nelson, and Attorney Young signed a Stipulation and Order re Subpoenas Issued by Respondent. **CP 1686-89**.

Despite his claims that he needed unrestricted access to the confidential materials because he could not afford to retain a

financial expert, Mr. Nelson did, in fact, retain one shortly after the 4/22/22 hearing. On July 26, 2022, Ms. Burks deposed Mr. Nelson's financial expert, Bri Tyler, who he had retained in early May, 2022, **CP 232**, during which Ms. Tyler testified in relevant part that Mr. Nelson had uploaded confidential materials to her directly from his own email address. **CP 173, 180-81**.

Ms. Burks received copies of two such uploads by Mr. Nelson. **CP 184-85**. The date of these submissions was 6/6/22, and the files sent included two PDFs labeled "Banner Bank Subpoena Records" and "Columbia Bank Subpoena Records," and two Excel spreadsheets labeled "Columbia-Transactions" and "SoundCreditUnion-Transactions." **CP 184-85**. Each upload came from "Trent Nelson [trent@trent.me]." **CP 184-85** (brackets included in original). This email address was previously disclosed on Attorney Young's 3/28/22 Notice of Intent to Withdraw and her 5/3/22 Limited Notice of Appearance as Mr. Nelson's email address. **CP 1631-34.** Emails sent to and from Mr. Nelson throughout the case also use this same email address for him. **CP 187-89**.

After the deposition, Mr. Nelson admitted for the first time that he had uploaded documents to Ms. Tyler that were given to him on a "USB key" or "thumb drive"/"flash drive" by Attorney Young. **CP 187**. This USB key held all confidential materials pursuant to the Protective Order, and he plugged it into his laptop to access the documents. **CP 187-89**. He asserted that the USB key was controlled by Attorney Young, and that it "never strayed more than 30 feet from [her]." **CP 187.** 

He described this 30-foot distance as a "hallway and an office and an office," and when asked if he was "in the same room as [Attorney] Young when he reviewed confidential information, he stated he was in either a conference room or an unoccupied office. He had access to internet while there and used his laptop to view the records, upload to Ms. Tyler, and run his self-created software both on his laptop and on the USB key. **RP 35**.

Prior to this, both Mr. Nelson and Attorney Young later described, Mr. Nelson was set up on a confidential computer provided by Attorney Young to review the documents. **RP 44-47**.

He was given a notepad to take notes, which he was not allowed to take out of the office. **CP 267.** On 5/17/22, when asked for assurances that the Protective Order was being followed, Attorney Young verified in writing that this "protocol" was what she was doing to ensure compliance with the Protective Order. **CP 218**.

Despite this verification, the exact date when this protocol (or any protocol consistent with the 3/16/22 Protective Order) stopped varied between Attorney Young and Mr. Nelson, as Mr. Nelson stated he was initially limited to a firm-owned laptop to view documents, but he could not install software he wanted on it, such as Word, Excel, and Adobe Pro.

**That was when <u>we</u> came up with the idea** to use a USB key to contain all of this confidential information. I would then use my laptop where I would have this software that could access it on the USB key.

**RP 44-45** (emphasis added). While the laptop provided to him had a PDF reader on it, it did not have "Adobe Pro," and Mr. Nelson wanted to use his laptop with Adobe Pro "so that I can edit, save, sign, do all of the types of fun things that you need to do in a case with a .pdf file." **RP 64**. As to who initially provided the USB key, Mr. Nelson said it was either one from the office or one he brought with him. **RP 48**. These facts were confirmed by Attorney Young.

#### RP 73, 79.

No one other than Attorney Young provided the USB key to Mr. Nelson. **RP 45**. When he arrived at the law office, he would stop by Attorney Young's office, who handed him the USB key, which he "would then walk down the hall and plug it into [his] little USB hub that [he] brought in." **RP 51**. The USB key was not password protected and the information on it was not encrypted. **RP 52-53**. Documents from the USB key were then viewed on his personal computer. **RP 54-55**.

Attorney Young later confirmed Mr. Nelson's statements about this USB key or "USB drive." **CP 231**. At about the same time as the entry of the 5/4/22 Stipulation and Order signed by Mr. Nelson and Attorney Young, Mr. Nelson began spending several hours per week in the conference room in her office. **CP 231**.

In "mid-July 2022," over two months later, Attorney Young "learned that Mr. Nelson had developed a computer program that

allowed him to create work product (in the form of Excel spreadsheets) to organize and review some of the data that was contained within the confidential documents." **CP 231-32**. "Mr. Nelson told me that the Court had confirmed that he would be permitted to create this sort of work product during the hearing on April 22, 2022." **CP 232**. Attorney Young "did not view any of Mr. Nelson's notes or spreadsheets." **CP 233**.

Mr. Nelson also described the computer program he, as a senior-level software engineer by profession, had created to "convert the PDF bank statements received from subpoena responses into plain text files," "extract[] transaction data," and "[s]ave the transaction data into Excel spreadsheets." **CP 187-89; 1910-11**. It "ingested bank statements" and there were "images that are stored within it." **RP 36**. (emphasis added).

His stated intention was to "convert all the PDFs into Excel spreadsheets," asserting that the trial court had given him permission to use his laptop "to take notes and create spreadsheets." **CP 187-88**. This program was on his laptop, which

he took to Attorney Young's office and used to view the files on the USB drive provided by Attorney Young. **CP 187-88**. He used this program as early as June 6, 2022, as he stated that two spreadsheets created by that program were uploaded to Bri Tyler on that date. **CP 187-89**. (Paired with Attorney Young's statement above that she discovered his use of the program in mid-July, Mr. Nelson used this program for approximately 1.5 months before Attorney Young became aware of it).

This program "looks" at each page, gathers the information from the statement, "keeps [it] in its memory," then goes onto the next page. **RP 55-57**. The program "has its own awareness" of the "representations of these transactions." **RP 56**. When Mr. Nelson opened the USB key on his computer after plugging it into it, "the data came into the software, and the software ran to formulate the summary[.]" **RP 58**. The information generated by the software was not a "summary," however, because "**there was no summarization done at that point. This was literally pretty much a direct transcription of one-to-one transactions. There** 

was no . . . summary table-type behavior done at that point.That was all done by Bri [Tyler] later." RP 58-59 (emphasis added).

He later filed what he called an "example" of work generated by this program, which was tasked to "collect and organize data from multiple Washington State court websites." **CP 372-521**. The document he provided as the results of the program was an identical PDF copy of Civil Rules 1 through 86 as posted on the Washington Courts website<sup>1</sup> with an attached index. **CP 372-521**.

Further, there was no "mechanism within the USB port that would have prevented [him] from making copies or downloading copies[.]" **RP 36-37**. Other than relying on Mr. Nelson's word and credibility, there was no way to know whether or not he had downloaded copies of the confidential information. **RP 37-38**. "[T]here is no way that we can really assess based on evidence whether or not I took copies other than my word for it." **RP 37-38**. When Mr. Nelson uploaded files to his financial expert, Bri Tyler,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://www.courts.wa.gov/court\_rules/?fa=court\_rules.list&group=sup&set=cr

there was no way "to prevent anybody from either copying or blind copying the data sent on the ShareFile to another source or location[.]" **RP 61**.

There were no "physical or procedural protocols" that prohibited Mr. Nelson from "sending an email with an attachment of any of the files in the thumb drive" from Mr. Nelson's laptop "while the thumb drive was attached" to his personal laptop. **RP 61-62**.

On July 27, 2022, Ms. Burks filed a Motion for Contempt against Mr. Nelson and Attorney Young for violation of the 3/16/22 Protective Order, 4/22/22 Order re Protective Order, and 5/4/22 Stipulation and Order re: Subpoenas. **CP 168-71**. As part of this, Ms. Burks also provided copies of communications between her attorney and Attorney Young regarding additional issues with ensuring Mr. Nelson complied with the Protective Orders. **CP 215-26**.

For example, an issue arose when Attorney Young was provided several hundred pages of confidential materials at 4:22

p.m. on 5/10/22 and Mr. Nelson was somehow able to review those materials and issue a deficiency letter the following morning at 8:08 a.m. **CP 216**. Via counsel, Ms. Burks requested confirmation and assurance that Attorney Young "was in fact limiting access for Mr. Nelson." **CP 216**. In response, on May 17, 2022, Attorney Young noted there was no sign-in sheet or video footage, but stated that Mr. Nelson had been set up on a "confidential computer to review the documents" and that he had "[a]t no point" "been permitted to review documents without our presence." **CP 218**. Attorney Young reiterated, "I am an officer of the court and have been in full compliance with the Protective Order, by which I am also bound."

### **CP 218**.

In addition to the standard contempt sanctions available per law, Ms. Burks also requested that Mr. Nelson be required to destroy all copies (with verification provided by an expert), that Attorney Young be required to destroy all confidential materials immediately and certify the same, and that all future viewing of confidential materials be done at counsel for Ms. Burks' office. **CP 270-71.**

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