FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/20/2024 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102986-1

Court of Appeals No. 57672-4-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ASHLEY ELIZABETH BURKS, PETITIONER

V.

TRENT NELSON, RESPONDENT

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICE OF SOPHIA M. PALMER, P.L.L.C.

By SOPHIA M. PALMER Attorney at Law WSBA No. 37799

615 Commerce ST, Ste 101 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 777-4165

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

communicate the Court's comments at the April 22, 2022 hearing or the Court's admonition to Mr. Nelson relating to the protective order and it is not being amended as requested is not credible.

- 8. The conduct as referenced is in contempt of the Court's protective orders.
- No remedial sanction is warranted as there is no evidence of monetary losses or economic damage to Ms. Burks at this time.
- 10. The Court may, in addition to remedial sanctions set forth in statute, order a person found in contempt of court to pay a party for the losses suffered by the party as well as any costs incurred in connection with the contempt proceeding, including reasonable attorney fees.
- 11. Ms. Burks incurred attorney fees in bringing this motion to the Court's attention. The hourly rate of \$425.00 is reasonable for her lawyer, Ms. Walker, given her experience and given the relative complexity of the circumstances and case history. Further, the paralegal rates of \$240.00 an hour are reasonable and customary within the South Puget sound reason (sic). I, therefore, award the sum of \$8900 as legal fees for legal services related to the motion. And I award a judgment for said fees against Mr. Nelson and Ms. Young jointly and severally.

11/4/22 RP 116-119. The Order of Contempt entered with the

court make the following findings of fact:

The background facts, evidence considered and referred, and the findings of fact provided by the Court on November 4, 2022, on the record, a copy of which is reflected in the transcript of proceedings and the ruling by the Honorable Judge Quinlan is incorporated herein by this reference as though fully restated and filed herewith.

Based on the testimony and records considered at the evidentiary hearing on September 8, 2022 and the reasoning and precedent set forth in the Court's oral ruling of November 4, 2022, the Court makes the following findings of fact, to wit:

- 1. When asked for assurances by Petitioner's counsel. Ms. Walker, that the Protective Order was being followed, Ms. Young asserted that Mr. Nelson was only being allowed to review confidential documents in her presence. on a confidential laptop and that he had not been permitted to review documents without their presence.
- 2. Ms. Young's testimony confirmed the protocols identified in paragraph 1 above

were initially followed.

- 3. The protocols recited in paragraph above 1 are consistent with the protective order as amended and Ms. demonstrate Young's understanding of the terms and restrictions contained within the Protective Orders.
- 4. This protocol changed sometime after Ms. Young withdrew her representation of Mr. Nelson. Ms Young testified that she was not an "indentured servant," however working at a for-profit law firm does not absolve of an attorney obligations owed as an officer of the court.
- 5. After her withdrawal as counsel, Ms. Young no longer supervised Mr. Nelson (sic) review of confidential information.
- 6. Rather, Ms. Young provided Mr. Nelson with an encrypted thumb drive with confidential documents for his unsupervised review in her office, which is no different than giving him hard copies, except that it might

be more readily available to disseminate.

- 7. Mr. Nelson is a computer expert, and his transference of the data from the thumb drive to his computer to copy the data spreadsheet was to a intentional, and it defied the Court's restrictive measures. which did not and never contemplate, nor did it ever authorize, this procedure used as a means to review and copying (sic) the data, the confidential information. Rather the court authorized separate notes, and from those separate notes, the creation of a spreadsheet.
- 8. Ms. Young's testimony that her paralegal did not communicate the Court's comments at the April 22, 2022, hearing or the Court's admonition to Mr. Nelson relating to the protective order and not being amended as requested is not credible.
- 9. The conduct as referenced is in contempt of the Court's protective orders.

- 10.Ms. Young and Mr. Nelson are in contempt of the March 16, 2022, Protective Order as well as the April 8, 2022² (sic) Order.
- 11. No remedial sanction is ordered and at this time, no damages are awarded as none have been incurred at this time.
- 12. The Court may, in addition to remedial sanctions set forth in statute, order a person found in contempt of court to pay a party for the losses suffered by the party as well as any costs incurred in connection with the contempt proceeding, including reasonable attorney fees.
- 13.Under statute, Ms. Burks is entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs.
- 14.Ms. Walker's hourly rate of \$425/ hour is reasonable based on her experience and the complexity of issues in this case and are reasonable and commensurate with those found in Pierce County. The paralegal

² There is no April 8, 2022, court order.

rates of \$240/ hour are reasonable and commensurate with those found in Pierce County. The gross and total sum of \$8900 is reasonable as and for legal fees and costs incurred in this matter.

15.Ms. Burks is awarded the sum of \$8900 against Mr. Nelson and Ms. Young, jointly and severally. Said sums hall (sic) accrue interest at the statutory rate from ten days from entry of this order.

CP 621-623.

No remedial measures were ordered. CP 620-625. No purge conditions were ordered. <u>Id.</u> The order contained only a finding of contempt, and an award of attorney fees owed by Trent and Ms. Young, jointly and severally, in favor of Ashley, in the amount of \$8900. <u>Id.</u>

V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>DENIED</u>

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOLLOWED CLEAR AND CONTROLLING WASHINGTON PRECEDENT.

RAP 13.4 (b) provides:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A court cannot hold a person in contempt for disobeying

an order unless the facts constitute a "plain violation of the

order." Johnston, 96 Wn.2d at 713. In contempt proceedings,

courts strictly construe the language of the order that is the

basis for the contempt motion in favor of an alleged contemnor.

Graves, 51 Wn. App. at 647. "The purpose for this rule is to

protect persons from contempt proceedings based on violation

of judicial decrees that are unclear or ambiguous, or that fail to explain precisely what must be done." <u>Id.</u> at 647-48.

a. Division II correctly applied the "plain language" standard consistent with precedent set out in Johnston v. Beneficial <u>Management Corp. of America, 96 Wash.2d</u> 708, 638 P.2d 1201 (1982).

In Johnston, Roger M. Leed, the attorney for petitioners in a class action lawsuit was held in contempt for violating a protective order prohibiting communications with actual or potential class members who were not formal parties to the action. <u>Id.</u> at 709. The Court of Appeals, Division One affirmed the finding of contempt. This Court reversed. <u>Id.</u>

There, at issue was whether Leed's contact with class members by mail violated the trial court's previously issued protective order. The order provided:

> All parties hereto and their counsel are hereby forbidden, directly or indirectly, orally or in writing, to communicate concerning such action with any potential or actual class member not a formal party to the action without the consent of and approval of the communication by order of

the Court. Any such proposed communication shall be presented to the Court in writing with a designation of or description of all addressees and with a motion and proposed order for prior approval by the Court of the proposed communication and proposed addressees.

The communications forbidden by this rule include, but are not limited to, (a) solicitation, directly or indirectly, of legal representation of potential and actual class members who are not formal parties to the class action; (b) solicitation of fees and expenses and agreements to pay fees and expenses, from potential and actual class members who are not formal parties to the class action; (c) solicitation by formal parties to the class action of requests by class members to opt out in class actions under sub-paragraph (b)(3) of CR 23; and (d) communications from counsel or a party which may tend to misrepresent the status, purposes, and effects of the action, and of actual or potential court orders therein, which may create impressions tending, without cause, to reflect adversely on any party, any counsel, the Court, or the administration of justice. The obligations and prohibitions of this rule are not exclusive. All other ethical, legal, and equitable obligations are unaffected by this rule.

This order does not forbid (1)

communications between an attorney and his client or a prospective client who has, on the initiative of the client or prospective client, consulted with, employed, or proposed to employ the attorney; or (2) communications occurring in the regular course of business or office which do not have the effect of soliciting representation by counsel, or misrepresenting the status, purposes, or effect of the action and orders therein.

When appropriate, the Court may approve the substance of permitted communications and general descriptions of the circumstances under which the communication is approved, and general descriptions of the parties to whom it may be sent, and the parties who may send the communication.

<u>Id</u>. at 710-711.

On February 22, 1978, the parties reached an agreement that required Leed to mail a claim form to each beneficiary and publish the form. <u>Id.</u> at 711. Leed mailed notice of the proposed settlement and claim forms to class members on April 3, 1978. <u>Id.</u> A month later, Leed's legal assistant again wrote to class members, who were not formal parties to the action and who had not yet filed a claim in response to the notice of the proposed settlement. <u>Id.</u> The letter reminded the class member to submit their claim form by May 19, 1978 in order to receive benefits from the settlement. <u>Id.</u> The second letter, sent by Leed's legal assistant, was sent without the express consent or approval of the trial court or the knowledge of the respondents or their counsel. <u>Id.</u> at 711-712.

Leed was found in contempt for the second communication. <u>Id.</u> at 712. He was fined \$100 and ordered to pay respondent's attorney fees of \$350. <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court and determined that the reminder letter of May 4 "violated the spirit of the order which was to prevent potential abuses in the management of the class action." <u>Johnston v. Beneficial</u> <u>Management Corp. of America</u>, 26 Wn.App. 671, 676, 614 P.2d 661 (1980).

In overturning the Court of Appeals, this Court reiterated long standing precedent that, "[i]n contempt proceedings, an

24

order will not be expanded by implication beyond the meaning of its terms when read in light of the issues and the purposes for which the suit was brought." <u>Id.</u> at 712-713, <u>citing State v.</u> <u>International Typographical Union</u>, 57 Wash.2d 151, 158, 356 P.2d 6 (1960). This Court found that the Leed's actions were not contemplated by the protective order, and therefore could not constitute a plain violation of the court's orders. <u>Id.</u> at 713. In essence, violating the "spirit" of an order cannot be the basis of a contempt finding.

Here, in nearly identical facts as those in <u>Johnston</u>, *and citing* <u>Johnston</u>, the Court of Appeals, Division II, reviewed the two separate orders entered by the trial court and correctly found that Trent's actions did not plainly violate orders. The court reasoned that the two protective orders, "did not reflect the expansive prohibitions that were applied by the superior court in its contempt order." Opinion at 7, 8. Construing both the March 16, 2022, and the April 22, 2022, orders in Trent's favor, as the Court of Appeals was required to do, Trent's actions do not constitute a plain violation of either of the trial court's orders and is consistent with the precedent set forth in <u>Johnston</u>. In analyzing this issue, the Court of Appeals properly found that the prohibitions the trial court *thought* were appropriate, or *wanted* to prohibit, were simply not reflected in the two protective orders issued by the court. Opinion at 7.

Nonetheless, Ashley argues that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with <u>Johnston</u>, because the appeals court failed to apply the proper legal principle to the protective orders in this case. This argument is wholly without argument and is simply an attempt to reargue the merits of her case.

Ashley reasserts her argument to this Court, that the April 22, 2022, protective order did not remove the "presence" requirement. Pet at 25. This is simply inaccurate. The April 22, 2022, order clearly states that Trent "*may* view the documents in his prior attorneys (sic) office, or in Ms. Walker's office..." eliminating the "presence" requirement. CP 159-160.

The Court of Appeals did not "interpret orders by

implication" – it painstakingly and methodically analyzed the specific language contained in the protective orders, Trent's actions and the trial courts findings and then correctly concluded, that the orders simply did not prohibit the alleged contemptuous behavior³.

She next argues that Trent admitted he took "images". This is a complete misstatement of the facts. Trent did not take images, screenshots, photos, or videos of any "Confidential Material." CP 328. Further, the trial court's November 9, 2022, Order made no such finding. CP 620-625.

Ashley next seems to argue that even if the protective orders did not specific prohibit Trent's actions, he should be found in contempt anyway in "consideration of the issues and purposes of the suit." This notion is in direction contradiction of the precedent set forth in <u>Johnston</u> that requires any contempt finding be based on a "plain violation of the order." <u>Id.</u> at 713.

³ The Court of Appeals properly points out that a detailed protective order could have been drafted to impose the requirements intended by the trial court. Opinion at 8.

Ashley has failed to demonstrate that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. ASHLEY HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE REVIEW IS WARRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2)

Ashley next argues that <u>Graves</u>, "is violated in the same manner as described regarding this Court's decisions above" with no substantive argument. Pet at 27. Such "[p]assing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration." <u>Holland v. City of</u> <u>Tacoma</u>, 90 Wash.App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998).

Accordingly, this Court should decline to review this issue.

2. CONCLUSION

Ashley has failed to demonstrate a basis under RAP 13.4 that merits review by this Court. This Court should deny review.

RAP 18.17(b) CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing answer complies with RAP 18.17 and contains 4651 words.